IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTONIO TROUTMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 80495 1DCA CASE NO. 92-298

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER FLORIDA BAR #197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. Attached hereto as Appendix A is the split decision of the lower tribunal. Appendix B is petitioner's motion for rehearing. Appendix C is the order denying rehearing.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As stated by the lower tribunal, the facts are:

Petitioner, age 16, was charged initially with kidnapping to facilitate a felony, grand theft auto, and aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. Subsequentially, he pled nolo contendere to the offense of false imprisonment and grand theft. Appendix A at 2.

The trial court noted that petitioner had no prior record, but in view of the serious nature of petitioner's conduct, the court was persuaded that juvenile sanctions were inadequate to impress upon him the consequences of his actions. The court announced its intention to treat petitioner as an adult. Adjudication of guilt was withheld, and the trial court placed petitioner on probation for three years. In doing so, the court cautioned petitioner that a violation of probation would result in an adjudication of guilt, and thus a criminal record. A written order articulating the rationale for imposing adult sanctions was filed three days later. Appendix A at 2-3.

The judge's written reasons are quoted in a footnote in the majority opinion:

1. The court primary charge in this case, false imprisonment, was committed in a premeditated and willful manner and was extremely serious, given that the defendant perpetrated the false imprisonment with the use of a scissors, which could be considered a deadly weapon. The defendant is just shy of his seventeenth birthday; however, he demonstrates a certain street sophistication beyond his chronological age.

2. The defendant has only one prior contact with the juvenile authorities, which was not a serious offense.

3. The period of time available to impose juvenile sanctions is insufficient to adequately protect the community and to afford the defendant sufficient counseling to ensure his rehabilitation.

4. The imposition of juvenile sanctions are insufficient to impress upon the defendant the seriousness of this type of action. Appendix A at 4.

On appeal, petitioner argued this written order was insufficient, because it did not address each and every one of the six enumerated criteria contained in Section 39.059(7)(c), Florida Statutes (1991). The majority of the lower tribunal disagreed:

> Application of the six enumerated criteria to the trial court's written order setting forth reasons for imposing adult sanctions indicates that in this case the court considered each factor, <u>albeit not in</u> the express language of the statute [emphasis added]. ... We conclude that a reading <u>in pari materia</u> of the sentencing transcript and the written order demonstrates <u>sufficient</u>, <u>as opposed to</u> <u>rote</u>, <u>compliance</u> [emphasis added] with the requirements of section 39.059(7)(c). Appendix A at 3-5.

Judge Zehmer, in dissent, noted that the predisposition report had recommended that petitioner be sentenced as a juvenile, and would have strictly construed the statute. Appendix A at 6. He further observed the majority decision was contrary to a recent decision of the same court. Id.

Petitioner filed a timely motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc, pointing out that the decision to allow the

judge's comments at the sentencing hearing to substitute for a written order addressing each and every statutory criteria was incorrect and contrary to the statute and other case law, including a recent case from the First District. Appendix B. On September 14, 1992, rehearing was denied without comment. Appendix C.

On September 18, 1992, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner will argue in this brief that the majority decision of the lower tribunal is in direct and express conflict with a decision of this Court and the other district courts of appeal. The statute allowing a juvenile to be sentenced as an adult contains six criteria which must be addressed by the judge to justify adult sanctions. The statute absolutely requires the judge to render a written order addressing each and every criteria.

Cases construing this statute, and its predecessor, uniformly hold that the failure to comply with the statutory requirements constitutes reversible error. The decision of the lower tribunal, which allows substantial compliance with the statute to be sufficient, is in express and direct conflict with those cases.

IV ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE LOWER TRIBUNAL, THAT A JUDGE WHO SENTENCES A JUVENILE AS AN ADULT NEED NOT ADDRESS EACH OF THE STATUTORY CRITERIA IN WRITING, IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH PRIOR DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

Petitioner was a 16 year old juvenile with no prior record when he stood before the court for sentencing as an adult for two third degree felonies. He should have been protected from the imposition of adult probation by Section 39.059(7)(c), Florida Statutes, which provides:

> Suitability or nonsuitability for adult sanctions shall be determined by the court before any other determination of disposition. The suitability determination shall be made by reference to the following criteria:

> 1. The seriousness of the offense to the community and whether the protection of the community requires adult disposition.

> 2. Whether the offense was committed in an aggressive, violent, premeditated, or willful manner.

> 3. Whether the offense was against persons or against property, greater weight being given to offenses against persons, especially if personal injury resulted.

4. The sophistication and maturity of the child.

5. The record and previous history of the child, including:

a. Previous contacts with the department, the Department of Corrections, other law enforcement agencies, and courts;

b. Prior periods of probation or community control; c. Prior adjudications that the child committed a delinquent act or violation of law; and

d. Prior commitments to institutions.

6. The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the child if he is assigned to services and facilities for delinquent children.

The requirement of a written order is found in Section 39.059(7)(d), Florida Statutes (1991):

Any decision to impose adult sanctions shall be in writing and in conformity with each of the above criteria. The court shall render a specific finding of fact and the reasons for the decision to impose adult sanctions.

The majority of the lower tribunal held the order under review demonstrated "<u>sufficient</u>, as opposed to rote, compliance" with the requirements of Section 39.059(7)(d).

To the contrary, sufficient or substantial compliance is not enough; the legislature intended rote compliance. The statute clearly requires that the written order make specific findings as the each and every one of the criteria.

Other district courts of appeal have held that failure to address <u>all</u> of the criteria <u>in writing</u> required reversal under the predecessor to this statute, Section 39.111(6) and (7), Florida Statutes (1989). <u>Meyers v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 609 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); <u>Flowers v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 782 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); and <u>Gooden v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 392 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

Other district courts of appeal have held that failure to address <u>all</u> of the criteria <u>in writing</u> requires reversal under the present statute. <u>Bell v. State</u>, 598 So.2d 203 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1992); <u>Horne v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 309 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); <u>Riley v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); and <u>Kohler</u> <u>v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 689 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The majority's holding, that oral comments at the sentencing hearing can substitute for a written order, and that "rote" compliance with the statute is not necessary, is in express and direct conflict with these cases.

In <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So.2d 1013, 1016-17 (Fla. 1984), this Court held:

> It is abundantly clear that the purpose of this legislation requiring the trial court to place in writing its findings of fact and reasons for imposing an adult sentence on a juvenile is to facilitate an intelligent appellate review of such a sentence.

> > *

*

The juvenile justice statutory scheme, as adopted by the Florida Legislature, grants to juveniles the right [emphasis in original] to be treated differently from adults. The legislature has emphatically mandated that trial judges not only consider the specific statutory criteria pertaining to the suitability of adult sanctions, but that they also reduce to writing their findings of fact and reasons for imposing an adult sentence on a juvenile [emphasis added]. A written order is necessary in order to make effective the right of sentence review granted to juveniles by the legislature. See section 39.14, Florida Statutes (1981). This right of sentence review is not provided to adults.

The majority's holding, that oral comments at the sentencing hearing can substitute for a written order, and that "rote" compliance with the statute is not necessary, is in express and direct conflict with Rhoden. Appellate review of the reasons

for adult sanctions is not facilitated if the appellate court must comb the record of the sentencing hearing to determine if the judge orally addressed each and every criteria in the statute.

Similarly, the legislature has required that reasons for departure for the guidelines be in written form:

The sentencing guidelines shall provide that any sentences imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines be explained in writing by the trial judge.

Section 921.001(6), Florida Statutes. This requirement is mandatory, and oral reasons do not satisfy the statute. <u>Pope</u> <u>v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990). The reasons for requiring a comprehensive written order are obvious -- the imposition of adult sanctions on a juvenile is a serious sentencing decision, and the judge must justify his decision in writing. These are the same policy reasons which moved this Court to require contemporaneous written departure orders in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 1329, 1332 (Fla. 1990):

> We realize this procedure will involve some inconvenience for judges. However, a departure sentence is an extraordinary punishment that requires serious and thoughtful attention by the trial court.

Exposing a juvenile to the horrors of adult prison is also an "extraordinary punishment" which requires a "serious and thoughtful" written order addressing each statutory criteria. Thus, the lower tribunal's holding is in conflict with the holdings in Pope and Ree.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this Court accept jurisdiction over this case and proceed to a decision on the merits.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER

Assistant Public Defender Chief, Appellate Division Leon County Courthouse Fourth Floor North 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904)488-2458

Attorney for Petitioner