IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

OCT 19 1992

Chief Deputy Clerk

By_

ANTONIO TROUTMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,495

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WENDY S. MORRIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0890537

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, ANTONIO TROUTMAN, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, which is contained in Appendix A of Petitioner's brief and is cited at <u>Troutman v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1851 (Fla. 1st DCA July 29, 1992), shall be by the use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution states, in pertinent part, the following:

The supreme court . . . [may] review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision," and "[n]either a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Neither will a concurring opinion support jurisdiction under section 3(b)(3). <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). In addition, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Id</u>., at 1359.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts as reasonably accurate.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the decision in the instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision from this Court or with decisions from the other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. Petitioner has cited ten cases in his brief on jurisdiction. However, only four of those cases involve the same statute dealt with in the instant case, and none of the cases involve the factual question of whether a trial court's written order sufficiently details its findings and reasons for imposing adult sanctions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH PRIOR DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

As a preliminary matter, the State points out that Petitioner has filed a merits brief masquerading as a jurisdictional brief.

Petitioner has cited ten cases in his brief on jurisdiction. Apparently, he claims that all ten cases are in direct conflict with the decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Troutman v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1851 (Fla. 1st DCA July 29, 1992). However, only four of those cases center on Section 39.059(7)(c) & (d), Florida Statutes (1991), as does the instant case. Petitioner contends that the decision in the instant case directly conflicts on the same question of law with <u>Bell v. State</u>, 598 So.2d 203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), <u>Horne v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 309 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), <u>Riley v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), and <u>Kohler v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 689 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The State respectfully disagrees.

In the instant decision, the First District Court of Appeal held that, in its written order imposing adult sanctions,¹ the six statutory "factors were addressed

¹ The full text of the trial court's written order is set out in a footnote to the majority decision $(A \ 4)$.

briefly but appropriately in the written order with reference to the factual context of this case." (A 4) In Bell, supra, at 203, the Fourth (emphasis added). District Court of Appeal held that "the trial court must address each of the statutory criteria in a written order." In Horne, supra, at 310, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that "any decision to impose adult sanctions shall be in writing and in conformity with each of the criteria. The court must render a specific finding of fact and state the reasons for imposing adult sanctions." In Riley, supra, at 1035, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that a trial court must provide written findings in writing. In Kohler, supra, at 689-670, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that, prior to sentencing a child as an adult, the trial court must make findings with respect to each of the six criteria.

In the instant case, the First District did not hold that the decision to impose adult sanctions and its findings need not be in writing. Rather, the First District held that, under the facts of the instant case as determined by looking at the written order, the trial court made the appropriate findings (A 3). To directly conflict with the First District's decision in the instant case, an appellate court would have to interpret an order identical to the one executed by the instant trial court and find that it did not appropriately address the six factors. None of the four above-mentioned cases even discussed the adequacy of a

- 5 -

written order or included the text of the written order in its opinion. Thus, these cases are not in express and direct conflict with the decision rendered in the instant case.

Petitioner also contends that the instant decision conflicts with cases involving Section 39.111(6)(d), Florida Statutes, which is the predecessor to Section 39.059(7)(d), Florida Statutes. While this is interesting from a historical perspective, Petitioner cannot establish conflict with cases interpreting a statute that no longer exits. Nevertheless, the decisions of the district courts in Meyers v. State, 593 So.2d 609 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), Flowers v. State, 546 So.2d 782 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), and Gooden v. State, 536 So.2d 392 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), do not conflict with the instant decision. In Meyers, supra, at 609, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that "any decision to impose adult sanctions shall be in writing and in conformity with the criteria. The court must render a specific finding of fact and state the reasons for imposing adult sanctions." In Flowers, supra, at 782, the Fourth District held that "the decision to impose adult sanctions [shall] be in writing and in conformance with the six criteria." In Gooden, supra, at 393, the Fourth District held that the trial court must "treat" all of the statutory criteria in sentencing a child as an adult. The decisions are in harmony with the instant decision because the First District held in the instant case that "the decision to impose

- 6 -

sanctions must be supported by a written order or a transcript containing the requisite findings of fact and reasons for imposing adult sanctions" (A 3).

decision does not conflict with The instant the decision of this Court in State v. Rhoden, 448 So.2d 1013 In Rhoden, supra, at 1015, the trial court (Fla. 1984). sentenced a child as an adult, but placed no reasons or findings in writing. This Court held that Section 39.111(6)(d), Florida Statutes (1981), required that a decision to impose adult sanctions be in writing and that findings of fact also be in writing. Id. at 1016-1017. In the instant case, the decision to impose adult sanctions was in writing the findings supporting such decision were in writing, and the First District agreed with the decision in Rhoden that the findings must be in writing (A 3). The decision also does not conflict with this Court's decisions in Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990), and Ree v. State, 565 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), because those cases do not involve the imposition of adult sanctions or Section 39.059, Florida Statutes. By referring to these cases, Petitioner is arguing the merits of his position, rather than showing conflict with the instant decision. Thus, the results reached in the cases cited by Petitioner are in harmony with the present result, and there is no conflict.

- 7 -

CONCLUSION

In view of the absence of any express and direct conflict with the decisions of the other court's cited in Petitioner's brief, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline to accept discretionary jurisdiction to review the instant case.